1972

Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc. v. Bank of Salt Lake : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant instituted this proceeding to recover the amount of \$574,031.32 which was deposited in appellant's account with respondent and thereafter paid out by respondent without the authority or direction of appellant. After preliminary discovery procedures were completed, respondent moved the lower court for a Summary Judgment of no cause of action on appellant's complaint for the following reasons:

* * * "that there are no legitimate issues of fact and that plaintiff's claim is barred by the following provisions of Utah Code Annotated,

1953, as amended, Sections 22-1-1, 22-1-9 and 70A-3-405, and the holding of Sugarhouse Finance Company v. Zions First National Bank, 21 Utah 2d Reports (68), 440 P.2d 809 (869).” (R. 93)

Thereafter, appellant moved the lower court for a summary judgment interlocutory in character as to the issue of liability pursuant to Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, on the ground that:

* * * “the pleadings, depositions, interrogatories and answers thereto show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and that the (Appellant), Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., is entitled as a matter of law to a judgment in its favor on the issue of liability.” (R. 98)

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment was denied by the lower court with the exception of the amount of \$24,523.90 which remained on deposit in appellant’s account at the commencement of this proceeding and for which Summary Judgment was entered in favor of appellant and against respondent. With respect to all other issues, namely, the liability of respondent to appellant for the amount of \$549,507.42 which had been withdrawn from appellant’s account prior to the commencement of this proceeding, the lower court

granted respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment against appellant, no cause of action.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court insofar as the same denies appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment relating to the liability of respondent to appellant for the funds withdrawn from appellant's account prior to the commencement of this proceeding and a reversal of the judgment of the lower court insofar as the same grants respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and relieves respondent from any liability to appellant for the funds withdrawn from appellant's account.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 3rd day of July, 1969, Mr. William M. Kendall, one of respondent's checking account customers since February 17, 1969 (R 33), appeared at the respondent Bank of Salt Lake and expressed a desire to open a corporate account in the name of Braswell Motor Freight Lines. During discussions with Joanne Sullivan, New Accounts Secretary, Earl Weaver, Cashier and Norton Parker, President of respondent, Mr. Kendall reported that he was an agent for Braswell Motor Freight Lines negotiating for the purchase of a dormant trucking authority in the State of Utah. (R 32)

The Application to open a corporate account was prepared by Joanne Sullivan and discloses that Braswell

Motor Freight Lines is a corporation and that the account was to be a commercial-corporate account. (R 42) The account was opened on the 3rd day of July, 1969, in the name of Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Account Number 110-197, with an initial cash deposit of \$50.00. (R 25)

Respondent accepted a Corporation Account signature card for Account Number 110-197 in the name of Braswell Motor Freight Lines. The signature card was signed by William M. Kendall as "President" of the depositor (R 42) and the same was accepted by respondent notwithstanding the oral representation of William M. Kendall that he was only a negotiating agent for Braswell Motor Freight Lines. (R 32)

Respondent admittedly failed to obtain a certified copy of a resolution of the Board of Directors of Braswell Motor Freight Lines authorizing the opening of the account and designating the individuals authorized to make withdrawals. (R 27)

The Corporation Account signature card previously referred to incorporates the conditions set forth on the reverse side thereof, ". . . as a part of this contract." (R 41) The reverse side contains an "Authorizing Resolution" that certifies the directors of the corporation opening the account have adopted a resolution authorizing the officers whose names appear on the reverse side to sign checks against funds of the corporation. The "Authorizing Resolution" portion of the signature card was never completed and executed by Braswell Motor

Freight Lines. Respondent accepted the incomplete signature card without any other form of corporate resolution.

Respondent concedes that since 1960 it has been the practice of respondent to secure such a corporate resolution and that respondent has had, and continues to have, corporate resolution forms available for use by corporate depositors. (R 36) The fact remains that this practice was not followed in this matter.

It is further admitted by respondent that at no time did respondent inquire into the corporate or financial status of Braswell Motor Freight Lines (R 26), or the relationship of William M. Kendall to Braswell Motor Freight Lines. (R 33) As a matter of fact, William M. Kendall was never employed by Braswell Motor Freight Lines in any capacity for any purpose. (Deposition of J. V. Braswell, p. 26) Respondent further concedes that it honored Kendall's request to hold the monthly statements at respondent's banking house for Kendall's pick-up rather than forward the same to the corporate owner of the account. (R 31)

The account was opened July 3, 1969 with a \$50.00 cash deposit. (R 25) On July 10, 1969, a deposit of \$134,136.12 was made to Account Number 110-197 and subsequent deposits and the dates thereof were as follows: January 30, 1970, \$145,649.44; April 14, 1970, \$103,108.98; June 22, 1970, \$92,275.82; and, August 13, 1970, \$98,810.96. (R 28) All of the deposits were by checks drawn on the Oak Cliff Bank & Trust Com-

pany of Dallas, Texas, by Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., payable to Braswell Motor Freight Lines. (R 76, 77, 78) On deposit, all of the checks were endorsed "For Deposit Only". (R 76, 77, 78)

There were a total of 21 withdrawals from Account Number 110-197, with 16 withdrawals being by checks drawn by William M. Kendall payable to cash as follows: July 20, 1969, \$85,000.00 and July 28, 1969, \$500.00; (R 75) August 5, 1969, \$20,000.00 and August 8, 1969, \$20,000.00; (R 72) September 5, 1969, \$4,500.00; (R 69) December 5, 1969, \$3,000.00; (R 67) February 17, 1970, \$96,500.00; (R 64) March 6, 1970, \$25,000.00; (R 60) April 14, 1970, \$3,000.00; (R 57) May 4, 1970, \$40,000.00 and May 22, 1970, \$35,000.00; (R 54) July 10, 1970, \$42,500.00; (R 49) August 4, 1970, \$25,000.00 and August 5, 1970, \$14,500.00; (R 46) September 2, 1970, \$40,000.00 and September 17, 1970, \$25,000.00. (R 44)

In addition, five withdrawals were accomplished by checks drawn by William M. Kendall payable to the Astro Auto Center as follows: March 18, 1970, \$20,000.00; (R 60) May 1, 1970, \$25,000.00; (R 54) May 29, 1970, \$5,000.00; (R 51) July 10, 1970, \$10,000.00; (R 49) and, August 28, 1970, \$10,000.00. (R 44)

Ten cashier's checks were issued by respondent after William M. Kendall had indorsed to respondent various checks payable to cash. Six cashier's checks named William M. Kendall as payee; (R 43, 49, 54, 62,

64) one named Ben Martin and Co.; (R 62) one named Security Pacific National Bank; (R 64) one named M. D. Werts and one named W. H. Werts. (R 75)

The subtotal of the above enumerated 21 withdrawals, excluding the cashier's checks because the amounts thereof are included in the withdrawals payable to cash, amounts to \$549,500.00. Two additional withdrawals that occurred July 25, 1969, in the amounts of \$5.75 and \$1.67 (R 28) bring the total withdrawals to \$549,507.42.

Notwithstanding the irregular circumstances surrounding the opening, deposits and withdrawals regarding Account Number 110-197, respondent did not contact appellant until respondent had permitted \$524,507.42 to be withdrawn by William M. Kendall from Account Number 110-197. On September 17, 1970, according to respondent's Answers to Interrogatories:

"Earl Weaver, Cashier of Bank of Salt Lake, in a telephone conversation with Mr. Henry Jones (an employee of appellant) on September 17, 1970, queried Mr. Jones as to whether it was proper for William M. Kendall to withdraw a large amount of cash from the Braswell Motor Freight Lines account. Mr. Jones indicated that he was not aware that Braswell Motor Freight Lines had an account with Bank of Salt Lake and that it did not sound proper but that it was possible that Mr. Braswell was engaged in a private transaction with

Mr. Kendall, that Mr. Braswell was out of town and unable to be reached, and that on the possibility that there was a special arrangement with Mr. Braswell, Mr. Weaver should release the \$25,000.00 cash withdrawal to William Kendall.” (R 34)

It is interesting to note that when respondent finally concerned itself with the propriety of the arrangement and the conduct of William M. Kendall, respondent knew whom to contact, namely, Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., Dallas, Texas, appellant herein. Had respondent acted in such a manner before permitting the withdrawals, appellant would not have suffered the loss of \$549,507.42 from its Account Number 110-197.

After the telephone conversation of September 17, 1970, wherein appellant was first advised as to the existence of the account and the dealings of William M. Kendall, appellant advised respondent by letter under date of September 21, 1970, that the account was unauthorized and that William M. Kendall was not authorized to open the account. (R 79) The withdrawal of \$25,000.00 on September 17, 1970, was the last withdrawal from Account Number 110-197.

On June 7, 1971, a representative of Ernst & Ernst submitted its Standard Bank Confirmation Inquiry to respondent. (R 95) The information requested therein was to assist Ernst & Ernst, a certified public ac-

counting firm, in their servicing of the account of Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., Dallas, Texas, appellant herein. The Standard Bank Confirmation Inquiry was executed by John W. Twelves, Vice President, Bank of Salt Lake, and admitted that as of the close of business on December 31, 1970, Account Number 110-197, in the account name of Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., had a balance of \$24,523.90. (R 97) This balance was awarded to appellant by the lower court. However, the lower court denied appellant's claim against respondent for the amount of \$549,507.42, withdrawn from appellant's account without authority and for general damages.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE OPENING OF THE CORPORATE ACCOUNT CREATED A LEGALLY PROTECTABLE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN APPELLANT AND RESPONDENT.

A. APPELLANT IS THE SAME CORPORATE ENTITY AS THE DESIGNATED OWNER OF ACCOUNT NUMBER 110-197.

William M. Kendall opened Account Number 110-197 in the name of Braswell Motor Freight Lines. Appellant submits that Braswell Motor Freight Lines and Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., of Dallas,

Texas, appellant herein, are one and the same corporate entity. In *Merchandise Reporting Co., Inc. v. Weiss & Golding*, 168 So. 336 (La. 1936), the court stated at page 342:

“It is common knowledge that corporations frequently do not use the words ‘incorporated’ or ‘limited,’ which form a part of its corporate name.”

Also, in *Goldberg, Bowen & Co. v Dimick*, 169 Cal. 187, 146 P. 672 (1915), the court stated at page 673:

* * * “There is, as we have seen, a practical identity of the name of the payee in the notes and the title of the plaintiff, and, even if there were a variation, the rule is that where the parties to a contract can be ascertained, and an action is prosecuted in the name of the real party, an error in the name of the promisee as described in the promise is not a proper basis of defense.” * * *

The entire area relating to the effect of the addition or deletion of “Inc.” in a corporate designation is summarized in 6 *Fletcher Cyclopedia Corporations* (*Perm. Ed*), “Name”, Sec. 244, at p. 186, (Revised Volume 1968), as follows:

“The omission of a part of the name of a corporation, when the name consists of several words, will not affect the validity of an instrument, if the corporation intended can be identified, and the same may be said of the

erroneous inclusion of a word or words, such as the word 'the.' *The addition or omission of the term 'Inc.' is not material where it is apparent that such abbreviation merely means a corporation and is descriptive merely, and not an essential part of the name.* * * * (Emphasis added)

Respondent had been informed by William M. Kendall that he was a negotiating agent for a company known as Braswell Motor Freight Lines. (R 32) The inclusion of the "Inc." would have been merely descriptive of the corporate status of the company, a fact which could have been safely presumed by respondent. Respondent could not have been misled or deceived by the deletion of the "Inc." on the name of the corporate account of Braswell Motor Freight Lines when, in fact, respondent completely failed to concern itself and investigate the corporate or financial status of the designated owner. (R 26) Furthermore, respondent's acceptance of the account as a commercial-corporate account would eliminate any question regarding the corporate status of Braswell Motor Freight Lines. (R 41, 42)

As a factual matter, when respondent finally became suspicious of William M. Kendall's dealings and attempted to verify Kendall's authority with the owner of the account, respondent contacted appellant, Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc. (R 34) Appellant's ownership of Account Number 110-197 is further confirmed by respondent's reply to the Standard Bank

Confirmation Inquiry executed by John W. Twelves, Vice President, Bank of Salt Lake, respondent, wherein it was stated that Account Number 110-197 was in the name of Braswell Motor Fright Lines, Inc. (R 97)

B. APPELLANT WAS THE OWNER OF THE FUNDS DEPOSITED IN ACCOUNT NUMBER 110-197.

The funds credited to Account Number 110-197 were represented by checks drawn on the bank account of Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc., and payable to Braswell Motor Freight Lines (R 76, 77, 78), the same corporate entity.

By indorsement of appellant's checks "For Deposit Only" and the deposit and credit thereof to appellant's account, the funds remained appellant's even though appellant was unaware of the opening of Account Number 110-197 and the deposits credited thereto. In *American Lumber Sales Co. v. Fidelity Trust Co.*, 127 Me. 32, 141 A. 102 (1928), the District Manager of a corporation opened an account in the name of the corporation without the company's knowledge or authority. Withdrawals were subsequently accomplished by checks signed by the District Manager as agent for the company but for purposes foreign to the company's business. The court held the bank liable for the unauthorized withdrawals and stated at 141 A. 104:

"Upon receiving the deposit from the district manager for the credit of the plaintiff com-

pany, the relation between that company and the defendant was that of depositor and banker, and the defendant became the debtor of the plaintiff for the amount of the deposit placed to its credit. *Heath v. New Bedford Safe & Deposit, etc., Co.*, 184 Mass. 481, 69 N.E. 215. *The deposit was the plaintiff's property even though its existence was unknown.* *Brown v. Daugherty* (C.C.) 120 F. 526. Having accepted the deposit, a bank is protected in paying out the deposit only where it has an order from the owner of the deposit himself or one authorized to act for him." * * * (Emphasis added)

Money deposited to the account of another is presumed to belong to or be due to the owner of the account, even though the initial opening of the account is unknown to the owner of the funds deposited therein. *Westerly Community Credit Union v. Industrial National Bank of Providence*, 103 R. I. 662, 240 A.2d 586 (1968). In the instant matter, appellant's ownership of the funds deposited to Account Number 110-197 is more than a mere presumption. The uncontested fact is that the subject checks were drawn by appellant, made payable to appellant, indorsed "For Deposit Only" and deposited in appellant's account.

C. A RELATIONSHIP EXISTED BETWEEN APPELLANT AND RESPONDENT WHEREBY RESPONDENT COULD PERMIT

WITHDRAWALS FROM ACCOUNT NUMBER 110-197 ONLY ON THE AUTHORITY OF APPELLANT.

Having established the ownership of Account Number 110-197 and the funds deposited therein, the next question is what relationship exists between a bank and the owner of a corporate account. This relationship is set forth in *Laws v. United States*, 66 F.2d 870, wherein it is stated at page 873:

“The relation between a bank and its depositor is that of debtor and creditor, and the bank may not pay out a deposit without the authority or direction of the depositor, and it may not properly charge an unauthorized payment to the deposit.”

In *Walker Bank & Trust Co. v. First Security Corp.*, 9 Utah 2d 215, 341 P.2d 944 (1959), this Court stated at 9 Utah 2d 218:

* * * “Between the bank and depositor it (the relationship) is that of debtor-creditor to the extent of the customer’s balance, (citing cases) and it is the bank’s duty to pay up to that amount to anyone on the depositor’s order and in conformity with his direction,” * * *

The same basic relationship of debtor-creditor exists between a bank and a depositor notwithstanding the

fact that the depositor was unaware of the opening of the account. In *Nationwide Homes v. First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co.*, 267 N.C. 528, 148 S.E.2d 693 (1966), plaintiff's employee opened a checking account in plaintiff's name by forging the signature of plaintiff's officer. The opening of the account was unknown to plaintiff and the employee used the account to pay some of the plaintiff's bills but misappropriated the remainder. The court stated at 148 S.E.2d 697:

“When funds were deposited in the defendant Bank for credit to an account opened, and later carried on its books, in the name of the plaintiff, a relation of debtor and creditor between the Bank and the plaintiff was thereby created.” * * *

Respondent attempts to negate its duty to appellant by reliance on the Fiduciary Act set forth in 22-1-1 et seq. *Utah Code Anno. 1953* (as amended). However, even a cursory examination of the Fiduciary Act reveals that the same is not applicable to the facts of the instant case.

A “fiduciary” is defined in Section 22-1-1, *Utah Code Anno. 1953* (as amended), as:

* * * “a trustee under any trust, expressed, implied, resulting or constructive, executor, administrator, guardian, conservator, curator, receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, assignee for the benefit of creditors, partner, *agent, officer*

of a corporation, public or private, public officer, and any other person acting in a fiduciary capacity for any person, trust or estate.”
(Emphasis added)

It is established that William M. Kendall was never an officer of appellant. In fact, Kendall was never employed by appellant in any capacity for any purpose. (Deposition of J. V. Braswell, p. 26)

The absence of any actual relationship between Kendall and appellant reduces any claim of agency by respondent to one of “ostensible authority”. In *Barclay Kitchen, Inc. v. California Bank*, 25 Cal. Rptr. 383 (Cal. D.C. of App., 1962), plaintiff’s employee induced the defendant bank to accept deposit slips reflecting several depository transactions when the deposit should have reflected a single check. The court recognized the employee’s authority to fill out deposit slips but held that that authority did not include the making of deposit slips that inaccurately reflected the nature of the deposit. The court stated at 25 Cal. Rptr. 386:

* * * *“it is elementary that an agent’s authority cannot be delineated by his own representations. (Citing cases) This rule is not changed when the relationship of the parties is bank and depositor (Citing cases); and where the depositor is a corporation the bank has a legal duty to ascertain that the acts of the agents of the corporation are authorized. (Citing*

cases) *Having accepted the deposits in question, admittedly irregular, without some effort to ascertain the agent's authority beyond her own representations, Bank cannot now absolve itself from liability by asserting an ostensible authority in the agent where in fact no authority was given.*

Additionally it may be noted that the issue of ostensible authority is a question of fact." * * *
(Emphasis added)

At the time Account Number 110-197 was opened, July 3, 1969 (R 25), the only source of "ostensible authority" was supplied to respondent by William M. Kendall, the purported agent. Without anything more than Kendall's statements, the commercial-corporate account was opened with an initial cash deposit by Kendall of \$50.00. (R 25) One week later, July 10, 1969 (R 28), Kendall made the next deposit, a check drawn by appellant and payable to appellant in the amount of \$134,-136.12. (R 76)

Respondent continued to accept Kendall's self-declared and unsupported statements as authority to deal freely with the commercial-corporate account and never requested or received supporting documentation. Admittedly, respondent never investigated Kendall's alleged relationship with appellant. (R 33)

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