1972

Braswell Motor Freight Lines, Inc. v. Bank of Salt Lake : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE BANK AND BRASWELL OF BANKER AND DEPOSITOR WAS NEVER ESTABLISHED.

In paragraphs three (3) and four (4) of its Complaint, Braswell alleges that the relationship was created between Braswell and the Bank of depositor and banker and that the Bank is charged with the responsibility of the non-negligent management of its account. (R. 1-3).

The foregoing allegations fly squarely in the face of the denial by the officers of Braswell under oath that William M. Kendall had any connections with Braswell whatever. (R. 86, deposition of J. V. Braswell, p. 26).

It is an elementary principle of law that a corporation, which is a legal entity, can only become bound by the acts of its agent having the authority to act. In this regard 19 *Am. Jur.* 2d, Corporations, Section 1079, provides as follows:

“All corporations must, from necessity, act and contract through the aid and by means of individuals. Such individuals may be those holding corporate offices or agents properly appointed by such officers; and as a general rule corporations have the power to appoint agents with full authority to do acts or enter into contracts within the power of the corporation. It is said that validity and animation of the corporate principle is animated only through its officers and agents.”

The relationship claimed by Braswell with the Bank is the relationship of depositor and banker which clearly is a contractual relationship. If William M. Kendall had no authority to act on behalf of Braswell, any purported contract between Braswell and the Bank made by him is of no force and effect and the account in the name of "Braswell Motor Freight Lines" opened at the Bank is the account of Kendall and not the account of Braswell. The relationship between a bank and its customers is set forth in 10 *Am. Jur.* 2d Banks, Section 338 as follows:

" . . . In other words, to create the relation of banker and depositor there must be some contract relation between the proposed depositor and the bank.

* * *

Although money on deposit in a bank is commonly considered to be the property of the depositor, the relationship in fact between him and the bank is that of debtor and creditor; the amount on deposit represents merely an indebtedness by the bank to the depositor. . . ."

See also *Walker Bank & Trust Co. v. First Security Corp.*, 9 Utah 2d 215, 341 P.2d 944 wherein the relationship between a bank and a depositor is determined to be contractual in nature.

Unless Braswell will concede that William M. Kendall who opened the account at the Bank was its agent, it cannot claim that the contractual relationship between the Bank and Braswell of banker and depositor was ever created. It is without question that the funds which were deposited in the account in the name of "Braswell Motor Freight Lines" were embezzled from Braswell by its employee W. H. Wertz and his accomplice William M. Kendall. Based upon this set of facts the only claim of Braswell against the Bank is for the impo-

sition of a constructive trust on the remaining funds in the account. In this regard see *Corporation of Pres. of Ch. of Jesus Christ v. Jolley*, 24 Utah 2d 187, 467 P.2d 984.

POINT II

IF WILLIAM M. KENDALL HAD AUTHORITY OF BRASWELL TO ENTER INTO THE CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP WITH THE BANK OF DEPOSITOR AND BANKER, ITS CLAIM AGAINST THE BANK IS BARRED BY THE PROVISIONS OF THE UNIFORM FIDUCIARIES ACT.

As set forth in Point I, in order for the contractual relationship between Braswell and the Bank of depositor and banker to be created, William M. Kendall must have been an agent of Braswell with the authority to open the account for them with the Bank.

The State of Utah, along with several other states, has adopted the Uniform Fiduciary Act which is designed to eliminate liability on the part of a bank who deals with a fiduciary on behalf of his principal unless the bank knows that the fiduciary is breaching his duty or acts in bad faith. If William M. Kendall was an agent of Braswell he would be a fiduciary which is defined by Section 22-1-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as an "agent, officer of a corporation."

The liability of a bank in dealing with an agent or other fiduciary is set forth in Section 22-1-9, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as follows:

"Deposits in fiduciary's personal account — If a fiduciary makes a deposit in a bank to his personal credit of checks drawn by him upon an account in his

own name as fiduciary, or of checks payable to him as fiduciary, or of checks drawn by him upon an account in the name of his principal, if he is empowered to draw checks thereon, or of checks payable to his principal and endorsed by him, if he is empowered to endorse such checks, or if he otherwise makes a deposit of funds held by him as fiduciary, the bank receiving such deposit is not bound to inquire whether the fiduciary is committing thereby a breach of his obligation as fiduciary; and the bank is authorized to pay the amount of the deposit or any part thereof upon the personal check of the fiduciary without being liable to the principal, unless the bank receives the deposit or pays the check with actual knowledge that the fiduciary is committing a breach of his obligation as fiduciary in making such deposit or in drawing such check, or with knowledge of such facts that its action in receiving the deposit or paying the check amounts to bad faith." [Emphasis added.]

The provisions of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act were construed in the case of *Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Zions First National Bank*, 21 Utah 2d 68, 440 P.2d 869. In the *Sugarhouse* case a Summary Judgment in favor of the defendant Zions First National Bank was reversed as to one cause of action of the Complaint which alleged that Zions *knew* that the fiduciary was committing a breach of his fiduciary obligation. However, in affirming the Summary Judgment as to the balance of plaintiff's Complaint, the Court, in commenting on the Uniform Fiduciaries Act states as follows:

" . . . In other words, the statute places a duty upon principal to use only honest fiduciaries, and gives relief to those who deal with fiduciaries except where they know the fiduciary is breaching his duty to his principal or where they have knowledge of such facts that their action in dealing with the fiduciary amounts to bad faith.

* * *

The statute was intended to cover just such situations. If a principal cannot trust his agent with money, he ought to put the agent under bond."

It is significant to note that the Plaintiff's Complaint fails to allege that the Bank acted in "bad faith" in dealing with the account in question assuming that it was the account of Braswell. In setting forth the principle that allegations of negligence, no matter how many or varied, are not sufficient to amount to bad faith, the Court in the *Sugarhouse Finance Company* case stated as follows:

"The statute does not define 'bad faith'. However, it defines 'good faith' as being done honestly, whether it is done negligently or not. '*Bad faith*' is the antithesis of 'good faith' and has been defined in the cases to be when a thing is done dishonestly and not merely negligently. *Davis v. Pennsylvania Co., etc.*, 337 Pa. 456, 12 A.2d 66 (1940). It is also defined as that which imports a dishonest purpose and implies wrongdoing or some motive of self-interest. *National Casualty Co. v. Caswell & Co.*, 317 Ill. App. 66, 45 N.E. 2d 698 (1943)." [Emphasis added].

Also, since both Braswell and the Bank made Motions for Summary Judgment simultaneously, all factual matters are deemed to be before the Court. In this case the record is completely void of any facts which would give rise to any claim that the Bank *knew* Kendall was breaching a fiduciary obligation or had acted "dishonestly" in connection with its dealings with the account in question.

In the Brief filed by Braswell, several cases are cited wherein a depository bank was held liable for unauthorized withdrawals made by an agent of the corporate depositor including *American Lumber Sales Co. v. Fidelity Trust Co.*, 127

Me. 32, 141 A. 102 (1928); *Nationwide Homes v. First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co.*, 267 N.C. 528, 148 S.E. 2d 693 (1966); *Barclay Kitchen, Inc. v. California Bank*, 25 Cal. Rptr. 383 (Cal. D.C. of App., 1962) and *Pacific Indemnity Co. v. Security First National Bank*, 56 Cal. Rptr. 142 (Cal. Ct. of App. 1967). In each of these cases the account with the depository bank either existed or was opened by an agent of the depositor as opposed to the fact situation in the instant case where the account in question was opened by William M. Kendall who had no connection whatever with Braswell. Also, the cases are not germane here as they were decided in jurisdictions where the Uniform Fiduciaries Act had not yet been adopted as liability would not have attached to the depository bank because of its dealings with a dishonest agent of the corporate depositor.

POINT III

NO LIABILITY WOULD ATTACH TO THE BANK BECAUSE OF THE DEPOSIT BY IT OF THE CHECKS DRAWN ON THE ACCOUNT OF BRASWELL AT THE OAKCLIFF BANK AND TRUST COMPANY WHICH WERE DEPOSITED IN THE ACCOUNT AT THE BANK.

Section 70A-3-405, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, appears to preclude Braswell from asserting any claim against the Bank for the deposit of the checks drawn upon the account of Braswell at the Oakcliff Bank and Trust Company and provides in part as follows:

“Imposters — Signature in name of payee —
(1) An indorsement by any person in the name of a named payee is effective if

(a) . . .

(b) . . .

(c) an agent or employee of the maker or drawer has supplied him with the name of the payee intending the latter to have no such interest. . . .”

As was noted in the foregoing Statement of Facts, W. D. Wertz, the assistant comptroller of Braswell, supplied the name of the payee on the checks as “Braswell Motor Freight Lines”. Mr. Wertz obviously intended that the plaintiff Braswell should not have any interest in the check which was deposited in the account at the Bank in the name of “Braswell Motor Freight Lines” as part of the embezzlement scheme in which he was engaged with his accomplice William M. Kendall. This is further borne out by the fact that the account opened by William M. Kendall at the Bank bore only his name as an authorized signatory and listed the address of “Braswell Motor Freight Lines” as P.O. Box 6138, Salt Lake City, Utah 84105. (R. 41).

A history, analysis and rationale of the “fictitious payee” rule is succinctly set forth in *The Law of Bank Checks*, 4th Ed. Henry J. Bailey (1969) in Section 1524 at p. 523 as follows:

“The ‘fictitious payee’ rule; Where agent of drawer supplies name of payee intended to have no interest in checks. — It is clear that, under the Negotiable Instruments Law, where a check is payable to a fictitious or non-existing person and that fact is known to the person who signed the check, the check is deemed to be payable to bearer. Thus, an endorsement in the name of the payee is not regarded as a forgery, and the loss arising from the payment of the check must fall on the drawer who employed the dishonest signing agent.

* * *

The Uniform Commercial Code continues the expanded 'fictitious payee' rule but does so in a somewhat different manner. The Code provides that, if an agent or employee supplies the drawer with the name of the payee but intends the payee to have no interest in the check, an endorsement by anyone in the payee's name will be effective . . . *cases applying the expanded 'fictitious payee' rule virtually always involve endorsement in the name of the named payee by the embezzler or his confederate, rather than an attempt by the embezzler to circulate bearer paper without endorsement.*

The Code, like the amended N.I.L. provision, takes the position that the loss in 'padded payroll', fraudulent invoice and other cases where a dishonest employee furnishes the signing officer with the name of the payee (who is to have no interest in the check) should fall upon the employer as a risk of his business rather than on the banking system. It is reasoned that the employer is in a better position to prevent such acts of dishonesty or to obtain forgery insurance and that the cost of such insurance is a proper business expense of the employer. The Code provision would cover both cases where the payee is fictitious and cases where there is an actual person named as payee but where the dishonest employee intends the payee to have no interest in the check." [Emphasis added].

As can be seen by the foregoing, even assuming that the payee on the checks, "Braswell Motor Freight Lines", was a pseudonym for Braswell, no liability would attach to the Bank for depositing the checks in the account in question or by accepting the endorsement on the check placed there by W. H. Wertz or William M. Kendall because of the obvious fact that by their embezzlement scheme they did not intend that Braswell have any interest in the check.

POINT IV

BRASWELL IS GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In its Brief Braswell assumes incorrectly that the account at the Bank was in fact its account and cites certain actions on the part of the Bank which it claims constituted negligent mismanagement of the account. Even if the account were Braswell's it is clear that the actions of Braswell in the management of its funds constitutes contributory negligence on its part and would preclude any recovery by it from the Bank in any event.

As was noted in the Statement of Facts, Braswell failed to follow the recommendations of its accountants on at least two occasions to implement better internal controls as they related to the management of company funds. Also, Braswell, in its Brief, focuses on the transactions surrounding the account at the Bank, however, it omits any reference to the fact that no investigation was made of its assistant comptroller W. H. Wertz at the time he was employed and that such an investigation would have disclosed that he had been convicted of a felony and dismissed from a prior employment because of an embezzlement.

Also it is significant to note that Braswell only became aware of the embezzlement by Wertz and Kendall which approximated some \$800,000.00 when the Bank inquired of them concerning their interest in the account in question and their relationship, if any, with William M. Kendall.

The embezzlement by Wertz and Kendall could have been prevented or at least detected at any early stage had the employees of Braswell performed the elementary bookkeeping task of reconciling its general account at the Oakcliff Bank and Trust Company, with its special payroll account at that Bank. This proposition was acknowledged by Mr. J. V. Braswell in his deposition and his testimony is as follows:

“Q. Mr. Braswell, if somebody had been reconciling the general account and following the checks to the deposit slips in the other account, they would have found these checks didn’t reach the other account, wouldn’t they?”

A. They should have, yes.”

The position that Braswell is precluded from asserting any claim against the Bank based upon the checks drawn on its account at the Oakcliff Bank and Trust Company or withdrawals from the account opened by William M. Kendall at the Bank is supported by the provisions of Sections 70A-3-406, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides as follows:

“Negligence contributing to alteration or unauthorized signature. — Any person who by his negligence substantially contributes to a material alteration of the instrument or to the making of an unauthorized signature is precluded from asserting the alteration or lack of authority against a holder in due course or against a drawee or other payor who pays the instrument in good faith and in accordance with the reasonable commercial standards of the drawee’s or payor’s business.”

In the instant case the actions of Braswell in failing to augment its internal controls allowed checks to be drawn payable to the order of “Braswell Motor Freight Lines” by W. H. Wertz and it may not now complain that the checks were deposited in an account over which it maintained no control.

CONCLUSION

On the basis of the foregoing it is apparent that the account in the name of "Braswell Motor Freight Lines" opened by William M. Kendall was not the account of Braswell. If the account in question was the account of Braswell it is precluded from asserting a claim against the Bank because of the provisions of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act.

The actions of Braswell's employee, W. H. Wertz, in supplying the name of "Braswell Motor Freight Lines" as the payee on the checks drawn on the account at the Oakcliff Bank and Trust Company with the intent that the payee have no interest in the same causes the loss to fall upon Braswell who employed a dishonest employee rather than upon the bank in accordance with the "fictitious payee" rule as codified in the Uniform Commercial Code. Additionally, the actions of Braswell in employing W. H. Wertz and in otherwise managing its financial affairs constitutes contributory negligence on its part.